

13 Blackburn Road

Air Quality Assessment

June 2020

Quality information

Prepared by

Basil Paulose

Consultant

Graduate Air Quality

alynt

Emma Longhurst

Consultant

Graduate Air Quality

Checked by

Verified by

Patrick Froggatt

Technical Director

aber Fraget

6

Gareth Collins Regional Director

Approved by

Revision History

Revision	Revision date	Details	Authorized	Name	Position
0	June 2020	Draft	forell Clos	Gareth Collins	Regional Director

Distribution List

Hard Copies PDF Required Association / Company Name

Prepared for:

West Hampstead Investments Partnership Ltd

Prepared by:

AECOM Limited Midpoint, Alencon Link Basingstoke Hampshire RG21 7PP United Kingdom

T: +44(0)1256 310200 aecom.com

© 2020 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited ("AECOM") for sole use of our client (the "Client") in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM.

Table of Contents

Introduction	
Scope of Work	
Policy Context	2
European Air Quality Directives	2
National Air Quality Legislation	2
National Planning Policy	
Regional Planning Policy	5
Local Planning Policy	7
Other Relevant Policy, Standard and Guidance	
Assessment Methodology	12
Baseline Conditions	
Air Quality Management Areas	
Results	24
Construction Phase	
Air Quality Neutral Results	
Mitigation Measures	
Summary and Conclusions	34
References	35
Appendix A - Figures	

Figures

Figure 1: Wind Rose from London City Meteorological Station, 2019	. 38
Figure 2: Modelled Road and Receptors Locations	. 38
Figure 3: Model Verification - Modelled Roads and Monitoring Locations	. 39
Figure 4: LBC Monitoring Locations	. 39
Figure 5: Change in NO ₂ Concentrations Between Without and With Scenarios	. 40
Figure 6: NO ₂ Concentrations With Proposed Development at Receptor Locations	. 40

Tables

Table 1: UK AQS Objectives	2
Table 2: 2018 DfT Traffic Counts	15
Table 3. Traffic Data amongst Assessment Scenarios	15
Table 4: General ADMS-Roads Model Conditions	16
Table 5: Summary of Receptors	17
Table 6: Effects Descriptors at Individual Receptors – Annual Mean NO2 and PM10	19
Table 7: Effects Descriptors at Individual Receptors – Annual Mean PM _{2.5}	19
Table 8: Local Air Quality Impact Descriptors for Daily PM ₁₀ Concentrations at Individual Receptors	19
Table 9: LBC Annual Mean NO ₂ Monitoring Results	22
Table 10: LBC Urban Background Monitoring vs Defra Mapped Background Concentrations (µg/m³)) in
2019	23
Table 11: Defra Mapped Background Pollutant Concentrations (µg/m³) in 2019	23
Table 12: Defra Mapped Background Pollutant Concentrations (µg/m³) in 2024	23
Table 13: Sensitivity of Receptors	24
Table 14: Summary of Potential Dust Emission Magnitudes for Construction Phase Activities	25
Table 15: Summary Dust Risk Table	25
Table 16: Annual Mean Air Quality Results Baseline Results, 2019	26

Table 17: Annual Mean Concentrations With and Without the Proposed Development in 2024	27
Table 18: Annual Mean Concentrations at Proposed Residential Receptors in 2024	28
Table 19: Calculation of Benchmarked Transport Emissions	29
Table 20: Calculation of Total Distance Travelled Per Year by Land-Use Class	29
Table 21: Calculation of Total Transport Emissions	30
Table 22: Comparison Between Total Transport Emissions and Benchmarked Transport Emissions	. 30
Table 23: Mitigation Measures	31

Introduction

This Air Quality Assessment has been prepared by AECOM on behalf of West Hampstead Investments Partnership Ltd ('the Applicant') in support of an application for full planning permission for the comprehensive redevelopment of the existing building at the Clockwork Factory Apartments, 13 Blackburn Road, West Hampstead, NW6 1RZ ('the Site') within the jurisdiction of the London Borough of Camden (LBC).

The development proposals, designed by Stiff + Trevillion ('ST') Architects, (herein referred to as 'the Proposed Development') consist of the following:

The works include: "Demolition of existing building and construction of three buildings and connecting pavilion standing between 1 and 9 storeys (plus basement) in height, comprising 53 dwellings, 4,802sqm of commercial floorspace, new public square, public realm improvements, landscaping and resident's facilities including cycle, refuse and parking facilities."

The Proposed Development incorporates both photovoltaic arrays and air source heat pumps and will not incorporate any form of onsite combustion. Therefore, the assessment of building emissions have been scoped out of the air quality neutral assessment which will be limited to the assessment of transport emissions.

For full details and scope of the application, please refer to the submitted Planning Statement, prepared by Gerald Eve LLP.

This Report presents the findings of the assessment of the likely effects on air quality as a result of the construction and operation of the Proposed Development.

Scope of Work

LBC have declared the entire Borough an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) due to exceedances of the Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objective for annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and daily mean objective for particulate matter (PM_{10}). This assessment will, therefore, focus on the pollutants of primary concern within the LBC administrative area which are NO₂ and particulate matter (PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$).

During the construction phase of the Proposed Development, there is the potential for earthworks and construction activities to generate fugitive emissions of particulate matter (dust and PM_{10}). There is the risk of such emissions affecting amenity or health at receptors located in proximity to the source of emissions, unless appropriate mitigation measures are adopted. An assessment of the effects from fugitive emissions of dust and PM_{10} from the Proposed Development has been undertaken in the Construction Phase section of this report. This assessment includes consideration of the risk of likely adverse effects associated with the track-out of material at receptors located within 50 m of roads extending up to 500 m from the Site access. Where required, suitable dust mitigation measures have been identified for the construction phase in Mitigation Measures of this report.

No on-site or on-street parking is provided as part of the development, with the exception of statutory requirements for disabled users and delivery vehicles. The intention is to keep private car trips to a minimum, aspiring to be a car-free development. The Proposed Development seeks to minimise the generation of air pollution by pursuing an energy system focussed on renewable sources such as an air source heat pump and photovoltaic arrays. Operated using grid electricity, the system not only provides an efficient source of heat energy but will not contribute to local air pollution whilst in operation. The air quality assessment considers the construction phase of the Proposed Development, and the impact on local air quality of emissions from road traffic associated with the site during the construction and operation of the Proposed Development.

Policy Context

European Air Quality Directives

The Clean Air for Europe (CAFE) (Ref 1) programme revisited the management of Air Quality within the EU and replaced much of the existing air quality legislation with a single legal act, Directive 2008/50/EC on Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe (Ref 2). This Directive repealed and replaced the EU Framework Directive 96/62/EC on Ambient Air Quality Assessment and Management and its associated Daughter Directives 1999/30/EC (Ref 3), 2000/69/EC (Ref 4), 2002/3/EC (Ref 5), (relating to limit values for ambient air pollutants) and the Council Decision 97/101/EC (Ref 6) which established a reciprocal exchange of information and data within Member States.

National Air Quality Legislation

UK National Air Quality Strategy

The UK National Air Quality Strategy (Ref 8) (AQS) was initially published in 2000, under the requirements of the Environment Act 1995 (Ref 9). The most recent revision of the strategy (2007) (Ref 10) sets objective values for key pollutants as a tool to help local authorities manage local air quality improvements in accordance with the EU Air Quality Framework Directive. Some of these objective values have subsequently been laid out within the Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (Ref 11) and later amendments (2015) (Ref 12).

The AQS objective values, referred to below, have been outlined in legislation solely for the purposes of local air quality management. Under the local air quality management regime, the local authority has a duty to carry out regular assessments of air quality against the objective values and if it is unlikely that the objective values will be met in the given timescale, they must designate an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) with the aim of achieving the objective values. The boundary of an AQMA is set by the governing local authority to define the geographical area that is to be subject to the management measures to be set out in a subsequent action plan. Consequently, it is not unusual for the boundary of an AQMA to include relevant locations where air quality is not at risk of exceeding an AQS objective.

The UK's national AQS objective values for the pollutants of relevance to this assessment are displayed in Table 1 as stated in H.M. Government (2016) Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 (Ref 7).

Pollutant	Averaging Period	Value	Maximum Permitted Exceedances
Nitrogon Dioxido (NO.)	Annual Mean	40 µg/m³	None
	Hourly Mean	200 µg/m³	18 times per year
	Annual Mean	40 µg/m ³	None
Particulate Matter (PM ₁₀)	24 Hour Mean	50 µg/m³	35 times per year
Fine Particulate Matter (PM _{2.5})	Annual Mean	25 µg/m³	None

Table 1: UK AQS Objectives

National Clean Air Strategy

In 2019, the UK government released its much-anticipated Clean Air Strategy 2019 (Ref 13), part of its 25 Year Environment Plan. The Strategy places greater emphasis on improving air quality in the UK than has been seen before and outlines how this is to be achieved (including the development of new enabling legislation).

Air quality management focus in recent years has primarily related to one pollutant, NO₂, and its principal source in the UK, road traffic. However, the Strategy broadens the focus to other areas, including domestic emissions from wood burning stoves and from agriculture. This shift in emphasis is part of a goal to reduce the levels of fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) in the air to below the World Health Organisation guideline level; far lower than the current EU limit value.

The strategy included the provision of a clear effective guidance on how AQMAs, Clean Air Zones (CAZ) and Smoke Control Areas interrelate and how they can be used by local government to tackle pollution.

In relation to NO_x the UK Clean Air Strategy sets the following reduction target:

 Nitrogen oxides (NO_X) – reduce emissions against the 2005 baseline by 55% by 2020, and by 73% by 2030;

It is noted within the strategy document that the "*current legislative framework has not driven sufficient action at a local level*". New legislation will seek to shift the focus towards prevention of exceedances rather than tackling pollution when limits have been surpassed. The shift of focus encourages more of a proactive rather than reactive policy framework at regional and local levels on air quality.

Air Quality Standards Regulations (2010)

Directive 2008/50/EC is transcribed into UK legislation by the Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 (as amended by the Air Quality Standards (Amendment) Regulations 2016) (Ref 7), which came into force on 11th June 2010. This sets binding limit values or objectives on pollutants with the aim of avoiding, preventing or reducing harmful effects on human health and on the environment as a whole.

National Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Ref 14) was published in February 2019 and sets out the Government's planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF supersedes the previous NPPF published in March 2012.

Paragraph 103 of the NPPF states that:

"The planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in support of these objectives. Significant development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and emissions and improve air quality and public health."

Air quality is considered as an important element of the natural environment. On conserving and enhancing the natural environment, paragraph 170 states that:

"Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: ...

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality ..."

Air quality in the UK has been managed through the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) regime using national objectives. The effect of a Proposed Development on the achievement of such policies and plans may be a material consideration by planning authorities when making decisions for individual planning applications. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF states that:

"Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be considered at the plan-making

stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be reconsidered when determining individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action plan."

The different roles of a planning authority and a pollution control authority are addressed by the NPPF in paragraph 183:

"The focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether Proposed Scheme is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where a planning decision has been made on a particular development, the planning issues should not be revisited through the permitting regimes operated by pollution control authorities."

Planning Practice Guidance

The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (Ref 15) supports the NPPF and was first published online in 2014. With specific reference to air quality the PPG was updated on 1st November 2019. The PPG states that the planning system should consider the potential effect of new developments on air quality where relevant limits have been exceeded or are near the limit. Concerns also arise where the development is likely to adversely affect the implementation of air quality strategies and action plans and/or, in particular, lead to a breach of EU legislation (including that applicable to wildlife). In addition, air quality may also be considered to be material if the Proposed Development would be particularly sensitive to poor air quality in its vicinity.

When deciding whether air quality is relevant to a planning application the PPG states that the following criteria may be required to be taken into consideration by:

- the 'baseline' local air quality, including what would happen to air quality in the absence of the development;
- whether the Proposed Scheme could significantly change air quality during the construction and operational phases (and the consequences of this for public health and biodiversity); and
- whether occupiers or users of the development could experience poor living conditions or health due to poor air quality.

On how detailed an air quality assessment needs to be, the PPG states (Ref 15):

"Assessments should be proportionate to the nature and scale of the development proposed and the level of concern about air quality... Mitigation options where necessary will be locationally specific, will depend on the Proposed Scheme and should be proportionate to the likely impact. It is important therefore that local planning authorities work with applicants to consider appropriate mitigation so as to ensure the new development is appropriate for its location and unacceptable risks are prevented."

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment

The 25 Year Environment Plan, published in January 2018 and updated in 2019, sets out the actions the UK Government will take to help the natural world regain and retain good health (Ref 16). This references several actions that are being taken to improve air quality, most notably the publication of the Clean Air Strategy (referenced earlier) and tighter controls on Medium Combustion Plant. Emphasis is also placed on the 'Future of Mobility', in the establishment of flexible regulatory framework to encourage new modes of transport and encouraging opportunities to move toward zero emission transport.

The 25 Year Environment Plan reinforces the demand for high environmental standards for all new build development. Resilient buildings and infrastructure will more readily adapt to a changing climate, and by extension have a lesser impact on local air quality.

Regional Planning Policy

The Mayor's London Plan, Spatial Development Strategy for London

The Mayor's London Plan represents a spatial development strategy for Greater London (Ref 17) and is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the development of the capital to 2031. It forms part of the development plan for Greater London. London boroughs' local plans need to be in general conformity with the London Plan and its policies guide decisions on planning applications by councils and the Mayor.

Policy 7.14 Improving Air Quality states:

"Development proposals should:

a) minimise increased exposure to existing poor air quality and make provision to address local problems of air quality (particularly within Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) and where development is likely to be used by large numbers of those particularly vulnerable to poor air quality, such as children or older people) such as by design solutions, buffer zones or steps to promote greater use of sustainable transport modes through travel plans (see Policy 6.3)

b) promote sustainable design and construction to reduce emissions from the demolition and construction of buildings following the best practice guidance in the GLA and London Councils' 'The control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition'

c) be at least 'air quality neutral' and not lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality (such as areas designated as Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)).

d) ensure that where provision needs to be made to reduce emissions from a development, this is usually made on-site. Where it can be demonstrated that on-site provision is impractical or inappropriate, and that it is possible to put in place measures having clearly demonstrated equivalent air quality benefits, planning obligations or planning conditions should be used as appropriate to ensure this, whether on a scheme by scheme basis or through joint area-based approaches

e) where the development requires a detailed air quality assessment and biomass boilers are included, the assessment should forecast pollutant concentrations. Permission should only be granted if no adverse air quality impacts from the biomass boiler are identified".

Policy 5.7 Renewable Energy states that

"all renewable energy systems should be located and designed to [...] avoid any adverse impacts on air quality".

Policy 6.13 Parking states that:

"in locations with high public transport accessibility, car-free developments should be promoted (while still providing for disabled people)."

The New Draft London Plan – Consolidated Suggested Changes

The 'Draft London Plan – Consolidated Suggested Changes Version July 2019' (Ref 18) considers air quality in the following policies:

• Policy Sustainable Infrastructure 1 (SI1) 'Improving Air Quality' states:

"Development plans, through relevant strategic, site specific and area-based policies should seek opportunities to identify and deliver further improvements to air quality and should not reduce air quality benefits that result from the Mayor's or boroughs' activities to improve air quality.

- 1) development proposals should not:
 - a. lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality;

- b. create any new areas that exceed air quality limits, or delay the date at which compliance will be achieved in areas that are currently in exceedance of legal limits;
- c. create unacceptable risk of high levels of exposure to poor air quality.
- 2) In order to meet the requirements in Part 1, as a minimum:
 - a. Development proposals must be at least air quality neutral
 - b. Development proposals should use design solutions to prevent or minimise increased exposure to existing air pollution and make provision to address local problems of air quality in preference to post-design or retrofitted mitigation measures
 - c. Major development proposals must be submitted with an Air Quality Assessment. Air quality assessments should show how the development will meet the requirements of B1
 - d. Development proposals in Air Quality Focus Areas or that are likely to be used by large numbers of people particularly vulnerable to poor air quality, such as children or older people, which do not demonstrate that design measures have been used to minimise exposure should be refused.
- 3) Masterplans and development briefs for large-scale development proposals subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment should consider how local air quality can be improved across the area of the proposal as part of an air quality positive approach. To achieve this, a statement should be submitted demonstrating:
 - a. How proposals have considered ways to maximise benefits to local air quality, and
 - b. What measures or design features will be put in place to reduce exposure to pollution, and how they will achieve this.
- 3A) major development proposals must be at least air quality neutral and be submitted with an Air Quality Assessment.
- 4) In order to reduce the impact on air quality during the construction and demolition phase development proposals must demonstrate how they plan to comply with the Non-Road Mobile Machinery Low Emission Zone and reduce emissions from the demolition and construction of buildings following best practice guidance.
- 5) development proposals should ensure that where emissions need to be reduced, this is done on-site. Where it can be demonstrated that on-site provision is impractical or inappropriate, off-site measures to improve local air quality may be acceptable, provided that equivalent air quality benefits can be demonstrated."
- Policy D1B 'Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach' states that:

"Development proposals should:

9) help prevent or mitigate the impacts of noise and poor air quality."

One of the amendments to the original publication in the latest draft London Plan refers to the Mayor's commitment to making London's air quality the best of any major world city; supported by targets which are more stringent than the current legally binding ambient air quality standards published by the World Health Organisation. The new London Plan is expected to be adopted in spring/early summer 2020 (Ref 19).

London Environment Strategy

The London Environment Strategy (Ref 20) was published by the Mayor of London in May 2018 and sets out the Mayor's vision of London's environment to 2050. The London Environment Strategy includes a number of policies and aspirations, with an accompanying implementation plan, setting out actions the Mayor is prioritising for the next five years to implement the aims of this strategy.

Chapter 4 of the Strategy relates to air quality and supersedes the 2010 Mayor's Air Quality Strategy (Ref 21). It sets the ambitious target for London to have the best air quality of any major world city by 2050 and goes further than the previous strategy by requiring developments to be 'air quality positive'. To date, however, the underpinning guidance outlining the method of assessment and the effective

AECOM

approaches to be taken to ensure that larger developments are 'air quality positive', has not been published. Therefore, the minimum requirement must remain for Proposed Development to be air quality neutral, until such time as this guidance is available.

Sustainable Design and Construction SPG

In April 2014, the Mayor of London published a revised Sustainable Design and Construction – Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) (Ref 22). This document provides guidance to developers and local authorities on what measures can be included in their designs and operations in order to achieve sustainable development and the objectives set out in the London Plan.

Section 4.3 of the SPG concerns air quality, and sets out the Mayor's priorities, as follows:

- "Developers are to design their scheme so that they are at least 'air quality neutral'.
- Developments should be designed to minimise the generation of air pollution;
- Developments should be designed to minimise and mitigate against increased exposure to poor air quality;
- Developers should select plant that meets the standards for emissions from combined heat and power and biomass plants set out in Appendix 7; and
- Developers and contractors should follow the guidance set out in the Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG when constructing their development."

The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG

The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG provides the methodology for assessing construction phase impacts and recommends mitigation measures appropriate to the risk associated with development sites (Ref 23). This methodology has been applied in this air quality assessment.

Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) is identified as a significant emissions source in the SPG, and NRMM to be used on any construction sites in Greater London need to comply with the latest European emission standards, as set out in the SPG. This policy is enforced through the planning process and compliance with the NRMM standards should be secured by local authorities as a planning condition or a Section 106 agreement. If emissions of NRMM are unknown, developers will be required to provide a written statement of their commitment and ability to meet these standards as part of an Air Quality Statement. An inventory of all NRMM should be kept, stating the emission limits for all equipment, and made available to local authority officers.

Local Planning Policy

Camden Local Plan

The Camden Local Plan (Ref 24) was adopted on July 2017 replacing the Core Strategy and Camden Development Policies. It sets the overarching vision, strategic objectives and policies for development in the London Borough of Camden from 2016-2031. The Plan identifies a number of spatial development issues across the Borough including accommodating population growth, achieving economic prosperity, tackling climate change, infrastructure provision, community cohesion, and creating and maintaining attractive and distinctive places.

Policy CC4: Air Quality states that:

The Council will ensure that the impact of development on air quality is mitigated and ensure that exposure to poor air quality is reduced in the borough.

The Council will take into account the impact of air quality when assessing development proposals, through the consideration of both the exposure of occupants to air pollution and the effect of the development on air quality. Consideration must be taken to the actions identified in the Council's Air Quality Action Plan.

Air Quality Assessments (AQAs) are required where development is likely to expose residents to high levels of air pollution. Where the AQA shows that a development would cause harm to air quality, the Council will not grant planning permission unless measures are adopted to mitigate the impact. Similarly, developments that introduce sensitive receptors (i.e. housing, schools) in locations of poor air quality will not be acceptable unless designed to mitigate the impact.

Development that involves significant demolition, construction or earthworks will also be required to assess the risk of dust and emissions impacts in an AQA and include appropriate mitigation measures to be secured in a Construction Management Plan.

Policy A1: Managing the impact of development states that:

"The Council will seek to protect the quality of life of occupiers and neighbours. We will grant permission for development unless this causes unacceptable harm to amenity....The factors we will consider include....odour, fumes and dust"

Policy T2: Parking and car free development states that:

"To promote sustainable transport for all and to make Camden a better place to cycle and walk around, to reduce air pollution, reliance on private cars and congestion and to support and promote new and improved transport links."

Our Camden Plan

Our Camden Plan (Ref 25) is LBC's plan for how they will implement their Camden 2025 vision. It states that LBC will use all the resources at their disposal to play a part in improving air quality. The Camden Plan key objectives are to focus on building communities, strong growth and access to jobs, recognise the needs of the full range of employees and businesses, create safe and open communities, and build clean and sustainable places.

Camden Clean Air Action Plan 2019-2022

The Clean Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) (Ref 26) was published in 2019. The plan has seven main themes for monitoring air quality, reducing emissions from buildings and new development, reducing emissions from transport, awareness raising and lobbying and partnership working. LBC's commitments include:

- 1. Working to reduce emissions from our own estate and operations;
- 2. Helping residents and visitors to reduce emissions and exposure;
- 3. Using planning policy and regulation to reduce air pollution;
- 4. Implementing innovative projects across the borough to improve air quality;
- 5. Using our influence to lobby for increased financial and regulatory support for the mitigation of air pollution;
- 6. Maintaining a monitoring network and ensuring the data is freely accessible;
- 7. Raising awareness on how to reduce emissions and exposure

Fortune Green & West Hampstead Neighbourhood Plan

The Neighbourhood plan (Ref 27) was formally adopted by LBC in September 2015. It is used alongside the council's planning documents and the Mayor's London Plan in determining planning applications within the Fortune Green & West Hampstead area. In relation to air quality the document states that:

1. In order to reduce the emissions from vehicles in the Area, car reduction measures – such as car free developments, parking spaces for car club vehicles and charging points for electric cars – are strongly supported.

In this regard, Policy 7: "Sustainable Transport" states:

In order to encourage the safe movement of traffic on roads in the Area, and to promote a reduction in car use, development will be supported which includes the appropriate provision of:

- *i.* Car-free or car-capped developments.
- *ii.* Car club spaces.
- *iii.* Charging points and dedicated parking spaces for electric cars.
- *iv.* Contributions to safer road layouts, traffic calming, and the removal of rat-runs.
- v. Proposals which will result in a reduction in air pollution caused by vehicle emissions.
- vi. The appropriate provision of loading bays for commercial use that requires regular deliveries.

Camden Planning Guidance – Air Quality

The Camden Planning Guidance, 2019 (Ref 28) provides information on key air quality issues within the borough and supports Local Plan Policy CC4 Air Quality.

Key messages regarding from the guidance are that:

- All of Camden is a designated Air Quality Management Area due to the high concentrations of nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and particulate matter (PM₁₀).
- All developments in areas of poor air quality are to protect future occupants from exposure to poor air quality.
- All developments are to limit their impact on local air quality and be at least air quality neutral.
- Air quality neutral assessments are required for all major developments. Major developments are schemes of 10 or more dwellings or buildings where the floorspace created is 1,000 square metres or more.
- All proposals involving demolition and construction should adopt best practice measures to reduce and mitigate emissions.
- On-site monitoring may be required dependant on the scale of demolition and construction.
- Certain developments using Non-Road Mobile Machinery (within the KW range) need to meet standards in the Mayor's Dust and emissions SPD.
- The impact of outdoor air pollution on indoor air quality in new developments needs to be taken into account at the earliest stages of building design.
- Development should take into consideration the location of amenity space and opportunities for appropriate planting 'greening'.
- Development should reduce emissions by being energy efficient (reducing emissions associated with the operation of the building).
- Development should prioritise more sustainable modes of transport and where applicable improve the walking and cycling environment.

Camden's Minimum Requirements

LBC has outlined a series of measures to minimise air pollution and nuisance to those nearby within its Camden's Minimum Requirements document (Ref 30). These include:

1. All dusty operations should be identified (and Reported in any CMP / DMP) and establish the best available techniques are required to control dust emissions...

- 2. Consideration should be given to the siting of aggregate stockpiles, based upon such factor as the prevailing winds, proximity of site boundary and proximity of neighbours....
- 3. Areas where there is vehicular movement should have a consolidated surface which should be kept in good repair.
- 4. The main principles for preventing dust emissions are containment of dusty processes and suppression of dust using water or proprietary suppressants. Suppression techniques need to be properly designed, used and maintained, in order to be effective.
- 5. Where there is evidence of airborne dust from the building construction/demolition activities the site, the contractor should make their own inspection and assessment, and where necessary undertake ambient monitoring with the aim of identifying those process operations giving rise to the dust. Once the source of the emission is known, corrective action should be taken without delay.
- 6. Effective preventative maintenance should be employed on all aspects of the construction/demolition works including all plant, vehicles, buildings and the equipment concerned with the control of emissions to air.
- 7. It is useful to have an audited list of essential items.

Other Relevant Policy, Standard and Guidance

Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance

The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) provides and maintains guidance and tools to support local authorities in carrying out their duties under the Environment Act 1995 and subsequent regulations. In order to provide consistency with the Council's own work on air quality, the guiding principles for air quality assessments, as set out in the latest guidance and tools provided by the technical guidance - LAQM.TG(16) (Ref 31), have been followed in this assessment.

Environmental Protection UK (EPUK) and Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) Planning Guidance

When determining the significance of the air quality assessment results with the Proposed Development, this assessment follows the non-statutory best practice guidance relating to air quality and development control published by EPUK and IAQM (Ref 32). The guidance ensures that air quality is adequately considered during land-use planning and development control process and is applicable to assessing the effect of changes in exposure of members of the public consequential to residential and mixed-use developments. This is of particular importance in urban areas where air quality is of a poorer standard. The guidance states that:

"Land-use planning can play a critical role in improving local air quality. At the strategic level, spatial planning can provide for more sustainable transport links between the home, workplace, educational, retail and leisure facilities, and identify appropriate areas for potentially polluting industrial development. For an individual development proposal, there may be associated emissions from transport or combustion processes providing heat and power."

Local Air Quality Management

The whole of the Borough was declared an AQMA in 2002 due to concern over the achievement of long-term NO₂ air quality objectives and for the short term PM₁₀ air quality objective.

The Greater London Authority (GLA) has also declared 187 Air Quality Focus Areas (AQFAs) in London (Ref 33). These areas have been identified as locations of high levels of human exposure to concentrations of NO₂ above the national air quality objective(s) for NO₂. The Focus Area designation was designed to address concerns relating to forecasted air pollution trends, or those raised during the LAQM review process. It is noted, however, that this does not represent an exhaustive list of London's air pollution hotspot locations, but where the GLA believes problems to be more acute.

LBC has 5 AQFAs, listed below:

- Camden High Street from Mornington Crescent to Chalk Farm and Camden Road (AQFA 28);
- Holborn and Southampton Row Junction (AQFA 29)
- Killburn Town Centre (AQFA 30)
- Euston Road (AQFA 31)
- Swiss Cottage from South Hampstead to Finchley Road Station (AQFA 32)

Although the Site is not located within an AQFA, 2 AQFAs (Kilburn Town Centre and Swiss Cottage from South Hampstead) are within 500m and 600m of the site boundary, respectively.

Assessment Methodology

There is currently no statutory guidance on the methodology for air quality impact assessments. Several bodies have published their own guidance relating to air quality and development control, such as that by Defra (Ref 31), Greater London Authority (GLA) guidance on the Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition (Ref 23), Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction (Ref 47) Environmental Protection United Kingdom (EPUK) and IAQM Land-use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality (Ref 32) which have been used in the preparation of this report.

Receptors potentially sensitive to air quality have been identified through review of mapping and aerial photography of the area surrounding the Proposed Development.

This section presents the methodology used to assess the potential effects on air quality during the construction phase and the operational phase of the Proposed Development.

This section will explain the methods used to assess the potential effect of:

- Fugitive emissions of particulate matter from the construction activities;
- Traffic associated with the construction activities to represent peak activities; and
- Emissions from trip generation and energy centre during the operational phase of the Proposed Development.

Detailed information of the scenarios to be considered for the assessment of the emissions for the construction and operational phases are described in the following sections.

The methods used to determine the significance of effects associated with air quality impacts are described in the 'Significance Criteria' sub-section of this report.

Construction Phase

Fugitive Emissions of Particulate Matter

Fugitive emissions (i.e. emissions which are not associated with a single fixed release point) of airborne particulate matter are readily produced through the action of abrasive forces on materials. A qualitative construction dust risk assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the GLA guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction for the application site (Ref 23).

Activities on construction sites with the potential to generate dust and emissions can be categorised into four types of activities, which are:

- Demolition any activities associated with the removal of existing structures on site;
- Earthworks includes the processes of soil-stripping, ground-levelling, excavation and landscaping;
- Construction any activities relating to the provision of new structures on site; and
- Trackout the transport of dust and dirt from the construction site onto the public road network where it may be deposited and re-suspended by traffic using the network.

The potential for dust emissions has been assessed for each activity that is likely to take place. The guidance has been used to assess the risk and significance of any impacts associated with the construction phase and to identify appropriate mitigation measures to be adopted to reduce any potential impacts.

A detailed assessment is required where a sensitive human receptor is located within 350m from the site boundary and/or within 50m of the route(s) used by vehicles on the public highway, up to 500m from the site entrance(s) or if there is a relevant ecological receptor within 50m of the site boundary. Due to the central location of the site, there are a number of sensitive human receptors located within 350m of the site boundary and hence the assessment is required.

The first step of the detailed assessment is to assess the risk of dust impacts. This is undertaken separately for each of the four activities (demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout) and takes account of:

- The scale and nature of the works, which determines the potential dust emission magnitude; and
- The sensitivity of the area.

These factors are combined following criteria set out in the Guidance to give an estimate of the risk of dust impacts occurring.

The emphasis of the regulation and control of construction dust should be the adoption of good working practices as standard. Good practice is a process that is informed by the assessment, which seeks to avoid the potential for adverse effects. This approach assumes that this environmental management, beyond those mitigation measures inherent in the proposed design, will be implemented during works to ensure potential significant adverse effects do not occur.

Site-specific mitigation for each of the four potential activities is then determined based on the risk of dust impacts identified. These measures are either 'highly recommended', 'desirable' or 'not required', depending on the level of risk identified. For general mitigation measures, the highest risk category should be applied. For example, if the site is medium risk for earthworks and construction, but a high risk for demolition and track-out, the general measures applicable to a high-risk site should be applied.

Where a local authority has issued guidance on measures to be adopted at demolition / construction sites, these should then be taken into account. LBC has published its "Camden's Minimum Requirements" (Ref 30) which should be consulted. Professional judgment is employed to examine the residual dust effects assuming mitigation is undertaken to determine significance. It is expected that best practice mitigation measures will be documented within a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) (or equivalent) and agreed with LBC prior to the commencement of construction works and secured by an appropriately worded planning condition. With effective mitigation and management commensurate with the level of risk identified in the construct dust assessment, the residual dust effects during demolition and construction works are generally considered to be 'not significant'.

Construction Phase Sensitive Receptors

For the assessment of construction dust emissions, a construction dust receptor is defined simply as a location that may be affected by dust emissions. Human receptors include locations where people spend time and where property may be impacted by dust. Ecological receptors are habitats that might be sensitive to dust.

When assessing the impact of dust emissions generated during construction works, the methodology requires only the quantities of the nearest, highest sensitivity receptors to the boundary of the Site in each direction be considered. These receptors have the potential to experience impacts of greater magnitude, when compared with other more distant receptors, or less sensitive receptors. Moreover, receptors located within 50m of routes to be used by construction vehicles might be impacted by dust originating from the track-out of material onto the road, and as such have been considered in this assessment.

There are a number of existing sensitive human receptors within 200m of the Site boundary, including properties in Blackburn Road, West End Lane, Heritage Lane, Priory Road, Lymington Road, Crediton Hill and Sherriff Road.

There are no statutory designated sites for nature conservation within 2km of the Site. Therefore, these impacts are scoped out of the assessment.

Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM)

Emissions from construction NRMM will have the potential to increase NO_2 and PM_{10} concentrations locally when in use on the construction site associated with the Proposed Development. This source is considered temporary, and localised.

The Mayor of London, through "The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition – SPG" (Ref 23), has put in place a strategy to address emissions from NRMM in the London area. In order to reduce emissions from NRMM, this equipment will need to meet set emission standards. Issued on 1 September 2015, NRMM of net power between 37 kW and 560 kW used in London has been required to meet emission standards, based upon engine emissions standards set in EU Directive 97/68/EC (Ref 49) and its subsequent amendments (Ref 50). From 1 September 2020, NRMM used on any site within Greater London will be required to meet Stage IIIB of the Directive as a minimum. NRMM used on any site within the Central Activity Zone or Canary Wharf will be required to meet Stage IV of the Directive as a minimum.

The Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) are responsible for the application and enforcement of this policy through the planning process, and the developers, as part of their Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment, will be required to provide a written statement of their commitment and ability to meet the NRMM standards.

Emissions from NRMM will be temporary and localised and will be controlled via the application of the NRMM standards and through best practice mitigation measures. For that reason, the construction phase NRMM emissions should not be significant. These emissions have not been modelled and are not considered any further in this assessment.

Operational Phase

Road Traffic Emissions

The incomplete combustion of fuel in vehicle engines results in the presence of hydrocarbons (HC) such as benzene and 1,3-butadiene, and sulphur dioxide (SO₂), carbon monoxide (CO), PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ in exhaust emissions. Better emission control technology and fuel specifications are expected to reduce emissions per vehicle in the long term.

Although SO₂, CO, benzene and 1,3-butadiene are present in motor vehicle exhaust emissions, detailed consideration of the associated effects on local air quality is not considered relevant in the context of this assessment. This is because road traffic emissions of these substances have been reviewed by the LBC as part of their local air quality management obligations since the introduction of Part IV of the Environment Act (1995), and nowhere within the administrative area is at risk of exceeding these objectives. Emissions of SO₂, CO, benzene and 1,3-butadiene from road traffic are therefore not considered further within this assessment.

At high temperatures and pressures found within vehicle engines, some of the nitrogen in air and fuel is oxidised to form oxides of nitrogen (NO_x) mainly in the form of nitric oxide (NO), which is then converted to NO₂ in the atmosphere. The presence of NO₂ in the atmosphere is associated with adverse effects on human health. Vehicle emissions can also result in the exposure at sensitive receptors to concentrations of PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5}.

The Proposed Development is car free with the exception of disabled parking. The transport consultant of the Proposed Development has confirmed that the trip generation from the Development, anticipated to be 14 vehicle trips per day, would be less than 100 vehicles per day. The number of vehicle trips associated with the proposed Development are below the IAQM criteria for potential effects on air quality and, therefore, the potential for significant adverse impacts to occur on nearby sensitive receptors as a result of changes in road traffic movements is considered to be negligible. However, as the site is located within the LBC AQMA, detailed modelling has been undertaken to consider site suitability and as part of this modelling off-site receptors close to the site have also be included to demonstrate that the impact of the Proposed Development are anticipated to be negligible.

Traffic Data

Due to the current lockdown due to Covid-19 traffic surveys could not be undertaken to support the assessment, as such, traffic data for the B510 West End Lane and A41 Finchley Rd has been derived from the 2018 Department for Transport (DfT) traffic counts (Table 2) (Ref 38), which were then scaled from to represent the estimated levels of traffic for 2019 and 2024, respectively.

Table 2: 2018 DfT Traffic Counts

Road	Traffic Flow	%HDV
B510	9052	12.7
A41	49103	2.1

The annual scaling factor was calculated with the use of the 2013 LAEI's (London Atmospheric Emissions Inventory) road traffic flow projections for 2015 and 2020 (Ref 39). In this way, an annual growth factor of 0.36% has been applied on the 2018 traffic counts when determining the 2019 and opening year (2024) base traffic movements. The following scenarios have been considered within this assessment:

- 2019 Base existing situation;
- 2024 Without future base without the Proposed Development traffic (2024); and
- 2024 With future base with the Proposed Development traffic (2024).

The summary of the traffic data for the assessment years can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3. Traffic Data amongst Assessment Scenarios

ource ID Road Type		Traffic Flow	% HDV	Speed(kph)	No of Hours			
		2019 Base						
B510 London - Inner 9,084 12.7 32.2								
A41	London - Inner	49,279	2.1	48.3	24			
Blackburn Road London - Inne		17	19.9	16.09	24			
	2024 Without	the Proposed D	evelopment					
B510	London - Inner	9,247	13.0	32.2	24			
Blackburn Road	London - Inner	17	20.0	16.1	24			
2024 With the Proposed Development								
B510	London - Inner	9,261	13.0	32.2	24			
Blackburn Road	London - Inner	31	20.0	16.1	24			

Note: Traffic data for the A41 has only been used for model verification purposes so is only considered in 2019.

Road speeds have been reduced at junctions to represent queuing traffic in accordance with guidance set out in LAQM.TG(16) (Ref 31).

Road Modelling and Vehicle Emissions Factors

This assessment has used the latest version dispersion modelling software 'ADMS-Roads'. ADMS-Roads is a modern dispersion model that has an extensive published track record of use in the UK for the assessment of local air quality impacts, including model validation and verification studies (Ref 40).

Details of general model conditions set up in ADMS-Roads are provided in Table 4. Some of these conditions are summarised in detail below.

Table 4: General ADMS-Roads Model Conditions

Variables	ADMS-Roads Model Input: Road Traffic Model			
Surface roughness at source	1.5m			
Surface roughness at Metrological Site	1.0m			
Minimum Monin-Obukhov length	100m			
Terrain types	Flat			
Receptor location	x, y coordinates determined by GIS, z = various.			
Emissions	NO _x , PM ₁₀ , PM _{2.5}			
Emission factors	Defra's Emission Factor Toolkit (EFT) version 9.0 (Ref 48), using the "London" vehicle fleet composition and the "Basic Split" traffic format.			
Meteorological data	1 year (2019) hourly sequential data from London City Airport meteorological station.			
Receptors	Facades of selected sensitive receptors.			
Model output	Annual mean NO_x , PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations.			

NO_x to NO₂ Conversion

The proportion of NO_2 in NO_x varies greatly with location and time according to a number of factors including the amount of ozone available and the distance from the emission source.

Defra have produced a NO_x to NO₂ Calculator (Ref 48) spreadsheet tool which provides a methodology for converting modelled road NO_x concentrations to NO₂ concentrations for any given year up to 2030. This conversion methodology has been used for the purpose of this assessment for all scenarios as the best representation of the NO₂/NO_x relationship for the study area. The NO_x to NO₂ Calculator is v7.1 and is designed to be used in combination with Defra's 2017-reference year background maps and Emission Factors Toolkit version 9.0. The traffic mix option used was the 'All London traffic' option. The local authority area used was selected based on the location of the modelled receptors and diffusion tube locations.

NO₂ Hourly Mean AQS Objective

LLAQM.TG(16) (Ref 42) states that the hourly mean NO₂ objective is unlikely to be exceeded if annual mean concentrations are less than 60 μ g/m³. The assessment, therefore, evaluates the likelihood of exceeding the hourly mean NO₂ objective by comparing predicted annual mean NO₂ concentrations at all receptors to an annual mean equivalent threshold of 60 μ g/m³ NO₂. Where predicted concentrations are below this value, it can be concluded that the hourly mean NO₂ objective (200 μ g/m³ NO₂ not more than 18 times per year) is likely to be achieved.

Air Quality Predicting the Number of Days in which the PM₁₀ 24-hour Mean Objective is Exceeded

The guidance document LLAQM.TG(16) (Ref 42) sets out the method by which the number of days in which the PM_{10} 24-hour objective is exceeded can be obtained based on a relationship with the predicted PM_{10} annual mean concentration. The formula is:

No. of *Exceedances* = $0.0014 * C^3 + \frac{206}{C} - 18.5$

Where C is the annual mean concentration of PM_{10} .

Based on this formula an annual mean PM_{10} concentration of 32 µg/m³ is broadly equivalent to 35 days of exceedance and, as such, if the predicted annual mean is less than 32 µg/m³ the short-term (daily) PM_{10} AQS objective can be considered to have been achieved.

Meteorological Data

One year (2019) of hourly sequential observation data from London City Airport meteorological station has been used in the dispersion modelling. London City Airport is located approximately 17km east of the Proposed Development and is considered representative of the meteorological conditions on the and around the Application Site. Figure 1 in Appendix A shows that the dominant direction of wind is from the south-west, as is typical for the UK. The wind speed ranges from 0-18 knots (0-~9.3 m/s).

Receptors

The concentration of road traffic emitted pollutants at the roadside or at sensitive receptors is influenced by a number of factors. These include background pollution levels and the amount of traffic emissions, which is dictated by traffic flow rates, composition and speed.

The AQS objective values for pollutants associated with road traffic were set by the Expert Panel of Air Quality Standards (and subsequently adopted as UK AQS objectives) at a level below the lowest concentration at which the more sensitive members of society have been observed to be adversely affected by exposure to each pollutant (Ref 45). Therefore, all receptors that represent exposure of the public are of equal sensitivity as any member of the public could be present at those locations.

Commercial properties are not considered sensitive to changes in ambient pollutant concentrations or traffic noise levels and are legislated separately as part of occupational health and safety regulations. These are therefore not included in the assessment and the focus is on proposed and existing residential buildings and sensitive receptors, such as schools, hospitals and care homes, as these are considered most sensitive to changes in air quality.

Annual NO₂, PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} concentrations have been predicted at a selection of receptors, representing the façades of buildings closest to West End Lane and Blackburn Road. Receptors have been selected from aerial photography and publicly available mapping. The selected receptors are set out in Table 5 and illustrated in Figure 2 in Appendix A.

ID	Receptor	Height (m)	Use (lowest floor)	
R1	Bright Horizons Day Nursery School	1.5	Education	
R2	153 West End Lane	1.5	Residential	
R3	76D West End Lane	1.5	Residential	
R4	88 West End Lane	1.5	Residential	
R5	167 West End Lane	1.5	Residential	
R6	124 West End Lane	3.5	Residential	
R7	209 West End Lane	3.5	Residential	
R8	176 West End Lane	3.5	Residential	
R9	172 West End Lane	3.5	Residential	
R10	267 West End Lane	3.5	Residential	
R11	216A West End Lane	3.5	Residential	
R12	Flat 1, 43 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	
R13	Flat 2, 43 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	
R14	Flat 3, 43 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	
R15	Flat 4, 43 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	
P1	Flat 1, 13 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	
P2	Flat 2, 13 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	
P3	Flat 3, 13 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential	

Table 5: Summary of Receptors

ID	Receptor	Height (m)	Use (lowest floor)
P4	Flat 4, 13 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential
P5	Flat 5, 13 Blackburn Road	3.5	Residential

Note: R = Existing Receptor, P = Proposed Receptor.

Model Verification

Predicted results from an air quality dispersion model may differ from measured concentrations for a number of reasons, including uncertainties associated with traffic flows and emissions factors, meteorology and limitations inherent to the modelling software. In light of this, and in accordance with advice in LLAQM.TG(16), for roads-based air quality assessments it is best-practice to perform a comparison of modelled results with local monitoring data to minimise these modelling uncertainties. This provides a verification factor, by which the output of the ADMS-Roads model is adjusted, to gain greater confidence in the final results. The verification of the modelling output was carried out as prescribed in Chapter 7 of LLAQM.TG(16) (Ref 42).

Available air quality monitoring sites in Camden were reviewed and it was concluded that there were two diffusion tube sites within the study area; CA15 and CA25a that could be potentially used for verification, along with the automatic monitor CD1. These two sites were located at roadside locations on the B510 and A41 close to the Proposed Development as illustrated in Figure 3 in Appendix A.

A model verification was undertaken using the traffic derived from the DfT traffic counts to model predicted NO₂ concentrations at these three monitoring sites based on monitoring data from 2019. Without adjustment the model was found to underpredict with modelled NO₂ concentration between -26.3% and -12.4% compared to monitored values. The unadjusted model has a root mean squared error (RMSE) of 8.9 μ g/m³ and fractional bias of 0.2.

After applying an adjustment factor of 1.94 the root mean squared error reduced to 4.0, the fractional bias to 0.0 and modelled NO₂ concentrations represented between -15.7% and +7.7% of monitored concentrations. All NO₂, PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} results presented in the Report were adjusted using this factor.

Significance Criteria and Effects

Air quality impacts are considered to be significant if a development leads to significant impacts at existing sensitive receptors or if air quality objectives / EU limit values are predicted to be exceeded at proposed sensitive receptor locations. Guidance on land-use planning and development control (Ref 32) suggests that a two-stage approach should be adopted to determine whether or not a Proposed Development has a significant impact on local air quality:

- a qualitative or quantitative description of the impacts on local air quality arising from the development; and
- professional judgement on the overall significance of the effects.

In order to assess the potential impacts of a proposed development on local air quality, a description of the impact is given based on the magnitude of change as a percentage of a relevant Air Quality Assessment Level (AQAL). Account must also be taken of predicted pollutant concentrations and their relationship to the Air Quality Objective / EU limit value for the pollutants of concern. Table 6 summarises the impact descriptors for annual mean NO₂ and PM₁₀ concentrations and Table 7 annual PM_{2.5} concentrations. The impact descriptors may be adverse or beneficial depending upon whether concentrations are predicted to increase or decrease.

Annual Mean Concentration at		Change in Concentration Relative to AQAL ^a				
Receptor in Assessment Year		0%	1%	2% – 5%	6% – 10%	>10%
As % of AQAL	NO₂ / PM₁₀ (μg/m³) ^b	<0.2 µg/m³	0.2 − <0.6 µg/m³	0.6 − <2.2 µg/m³	2.2 – ≤4.0 μg/m³	> <mark>4.0 µg</mark> /m³
≤75%	≤30.2	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible	Slight	Moderate
76% - 94%	30.2 - 37.8	Negligible	Negligible	Slight	Moderate	Moderate
95% - 102%	37.8 – 41.0	Negligible	Slight	Moderate	Moderate	Substantial
103% - 109%	41.0 - 43.8	Negligible	Moderate	Moderate	Substantial	Substantial
≥110%	≥43.8	Negligible	Moderate	Substantial	Substantial	Substantial

Table 6: Effects Descriptors at Individual Receptors – Annual Mean NO₂ and PM₁₀

Notes:

a The percentage change in pollutant concentration is calculated and rounded to the nearest whole number to make it clearer which column the impacts fall within. Changes of less than 0.5% are rounded down to zero and therefore described as negligible. b Concentrations quoted were obtained from EPUK/IAQM.

Annual Mean	Concentration at	Change in Concentration Relative to AQAL ^a							
Receptor in A	ssessment Year	0%	1%	2% – 5%	6% – 10%	>10%			
As % of AQAL	PM _{2.5} (µg/m³) ^b	<0.1 µg/m³	0.1 − <0.4 µg/m³	0.4 – <1.4 μg/m³	1.4 – ≤2.5 μg/m³	> <mark>2.5 µg</mark> /m³			
≤75%	≤18.9	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible	Slight	Moderate			
76% - 94%	18.9 - 23.6	Negligible	Negligible	Slight	Moderate	Moderate			
95% - 102%	23.6 - 25.6	Negligible	Slight	Moderate	Moderate	Substantial			
103% - 109%	25.6 - 27.4	Negligible	Moderate	Moderate	Substantial	Substantial			
≥110%	≥27.4	Negligible	Moderate	Substantial	Substantial	Substantial			

Table 7: Effects Descriptors at Individual Receptors – Annual Mean PM_{2.5}

Notes:

a The percentage change in pollutant concentration is calculated and rounded to the nearest whole number to make it clearer which column the impacts fall within. Changes of less than 0.5% are rounded down to zero and therefore described as negligible. b Concentrations quoted were obtained from EPUK/IAQM.

For determining the air quality impacts of a development on short-term PM₁₀ concentrations (i.e. the number of days where the daily mean PM_{10} concentration is greater than 50 μ g/m³) the significance criteria in Table 8 has been adapted to derive a value for the AQS objective equivalent to 35 days per year of PM₁₀ concentrations greater than 50 μ g/m³. An annual mean PM₁₀ concentration of 32 μ g/m³ is broadly equivalent to 35 days of exceedance; and as such this value has been used as the AQS objective and has been used to calculate the changes in concentration thresholds for assessing the air quality impacts on short-term (daily) PM₁₀ concentrations, as set out in Table 8.

Table 8: Local Air Quality Impact Descriptors for Daily PM₁₀ Concentrations at Individual **Receptors**

-

Mean Concentration at		Change in Annual Mean Concentration of PM ₁₀ (µg/m ³) and Percentage (%) as a Proportion of the AQS Objective							
Receptor in A	ssessment rear	0%	1%	<mark>2% – 5</mark> %	6% – 10%	>10%			
As % of AQAL	РМ ₁₀ (µg/m³) ^ь	<0.2 µg/m ³	0.2 – <0.5 μg/m³	0.5 – <1.8 μg/m³	1.8 – ≤3.2 μg/m³	>3.2 µg/m³			
≤75%	<24.2	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible	Slight	Moderate			
76% - 94%	24.2 - <30.2	Negligible	Negligible	Slight	Moderate	Moderate			
95% - 102%	30.2 - <32.8	Negligible	Slight	Moderate	Moderate	Substantial			
103% - 109%	32.8 - <35.0	Negligible	Moderate	Moderate	Substantial	Substantial			
≥110%	>=35.0	Negligible	Moderate	Substantial	Substantial	Substantial			

Notes:

Adapted from the EPUK/IAQM Air Quality Guidance.

For the assessment of short-term PM10 impacts, a value of 32 µg/m3 has been calculated as being equivalent to the AQS objective of 35 days per year not to exceed 50 µg/m³.

The descriptors presented in Table 6 to Table 8 are ascribed to impacts at individual sensitive receptor locations; however they are not, of themselves, a clear and unambiguous guide to reaching a conclusion on overall significance. The guidance on land-use planning and development control (Ref 32) makes it clear that the assessment of significance of the overall effect should be based on professional judgement. Whilst it may be that there are 'slight', 'moderate' or 'substantial' impacts at one or more receptors, the overall effect may not necessarily therefore be judged as being significant in some circumstances. A 'moderate' or 'substantial' impact may not have a significant effect if it is confined to a very small area.

Where a single development can be judged in isolation, it is likely that a 'moderate' or 'substantial' impact will give rise to a significant effect and a 'negligible' or 'slight' impact will not have a significant effect, but such judgements are always more likely to be valid at the two extremes of impact severity. The IAQM/EPUK guidance also advises that for new occupants of a proposed development, the impacts are best described in relation to whether or not an air quality objective / limit value will be met or is at risk of not being met. An exceedance of the objective / limit value is likely to be considered significant.

The EPUK/IAQM guidance notes that overall significance is determined using professional judgement and should consider:

- The existing and future air quality in the absence of development;
- The extent of current and future population exposure to any air quality impacts associated with a proposed development;
- The influence and validity of any assumptions made in the assessment approach;
- The cumulative effects arising from other committed developments in the study area; and
- The introduction of new occupants into the proposed development and the levels of air pollution to which they are likely to be exposed.

Assumptions, Constraints and Limitations

The following assumptions have been made in undertaking this assessment:

- Road traffic emissions modelling has used traffic data taken 2018 data from the DfT traffic counts and factored to verification and assessment years (2019 and 2024);
- Road traffic emissions related impact predictions have been checked against baseline monitoring data to capture and adjust for variations in model performance. By carrying out model verification and adjusting the results in line with measured concentrations according to Defra's published guidance, the uncertainty in the predictions for the current baseline is reduced;
- Worst case receptor locations have been assumed, which represent the location of maximum exposure to air pollutants within an area;
- The background NO₂ concentration from the Defra mapped backgrounds have been used in the absence of background monitoring.
- A greater level of uncertainty is associated with predictions for future years than for the base year, with greater uncertainty the further into the future the predictions are made. The assumptions made in relation to traffic flows, vehicle emission rates and vehicle fleet composition are expected to be the most uncertain but have been made in accordance with best practice approaches and modelled using the official Defra v9 emission factors.

Air Quality Neutral Assessment

Using the GLA's Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (Ref 22), an Air Quality Neutral Assessment has been undertaken using the latest information about the Proposed Development. The methodology and emission factors are taken from the Air Quality Neutral Planning Support document (Ref 34). The methodology assesses two sources of emissions: road traffic and energy production.

The Air Quality Neutral Assessment for the road traffic associated with the Proposed Development compares the road traffic related emissions against calculated benchmark values which are based upon

land use, the number of anticipated trips per year, and the average distance travelled per trip, in accordance with the Air Quality Neutral Planning Support (Ref 34).

The Transport Emissions Benchmark (TEB) for the Proposed are calculated using default NO_x and PM_{10} emission factors per square metre, which have been determined for the different land use classes, and for each of the three areas within London, as defined in the guidance. In this assessment, Central Activity Zone (CAZ) emission factors have been used.

For building emissions, Building Emissions Benchmarks (BEB) for NO_x and PM_{10} are calculated using information relating to energy supply and demand considerations for different land use classes, as defined in the guidance. The Proposed Development does not include any on-site centralised combustion plant and intends to use a central heating pump at roof level. However, a backup diesel generator may be used on site and as such building emissions are included within the Air Quality Neutral Assessment at this stage.

Baseline Conditions

Air Quality Management Areas

LBC has declared the entire borough an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) for exceedances of the 24-hour mean AQS objective for PM₁₀ and annual mean AQS objective for NO₂. As a central London borough, emissions within LBC are primarily influenced by road traffic emissions.

Local Monitoring Data

Under the requirements of Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) (Ref 9), LBC has carried out a review and assessment of local air quality. Currently, LBC monitors NO₂, PM₁₀, PM_{2.5}, and SO₂. Monitoring is conducted at automatic monitoring and non-automatic sites within LBC. The Council undertake automatic monitoring at 3 continuous monitoring locations and non-automatic monitoring using NO₂ diffusing tubes at 14 monitoring sites. The location of monitoring within LBC is illustrated in Figure 4 in Appendix A.

NO₂ concentrations measured at the monitoring sites within 3km of the Proposed Development are presented in Table 9. Data has been taken from LBC's 2018 Annual Status Report published in 2019 (Ref 35). NO₂ concentrations from these monitoring locations have been presented to provide an indication of current pollutant concentrations in proximity to the site.

ID Location	OS X, Y	Approx. Distance	Monitor	Location	concentration (µg/m ³)					
		Coordinate	to Site	туре	туре	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
CD1	Swiss Cottage	526627, 184389	1.0km	СМ	Roadside	<u>61</u>	<u>66</u>	53	54	43
CA7	Frognal Way	526213, 185519	1.0km	DT	Urban Background	27.8	27.9	29.6	22.1	22.8
CA15	Swiss Cottage	526626, 184390	1.0km	DT	Roadside	<u>69.3</u>	<u>73.9</u>	-	<u>62.3</u>	49.7
CA17	47 Fitzjohn's Avenue	526547, 185125	1.0km	DT	Roadside	55.8	56.4	66.3	48.1	42.5
CA25a	Emmanuel Primary School	525379, 185258	0.6km	DT	Roadside	-	-	-	-	37.9

Table 9: LBC Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results

Numbers in bold show the concentrations exceeding the annual mean AQS objective while values underlined indicate potential exceedance of the short-term NO_2 AQS objective. DT = Diffusion Tube, CM = Continuous Monitor.

In 2019, NO₂ concentrations were above the annual mean NO₂ objective of 40 μ g/m³ at three of the five monitoring locations within 1km of the Proposed Development with measured concentration at the Emmanuel Primary School monitoring site is just below the AQS objective NO₂.

Defra Mapped Background Pollutant Concentrations

A large number of small sources of air pollutants exist, which individually may not be significant, but collectively, over a large area, need to be considered in the modelling process. Pollutant emissions from these sources contribute to background air quality, which when added to modelled emissions allow estimates of total ambient pollutant concentrations to be made.

Defra has produced maps of background pollutant concentrations covering the whole of the UK for use by local authorities and consultants in the completion of LAQM reports and Air Quality Assessments where local background monitoring is unavailable or inappropriate for use. The current Defra maps are based on projections from 2017 monitoring data and provide background pollutant concentrations for each 1-km grid square within the UK for all years between 2017 and 2030 (Ref 45).

Table 10 presents a comparison between the 2018 monitored urban background NO₂ concentrations reported by LBC and the Defra mapped background values for the corresponding grid square in 2019.

Table 10: LBC Urban Background Monitoring vs Defra Mapped Background Concentrations $(\mu g/m^3)$ in 2019

Monitoring Location	Defra Grid Square	Monitored Annual	Mapped Annual	
	(x,y)	Mean NO₂ (µg/m³)	Mean NO₂ (µg/m³)	
CA7 Frognal Way	526500, 185500	22.8	25.1	

Table 10 shows that the Defra Mapped background is more conservative than the monitored concentrations within the grid square. However, between 2015 and 2017, NO₂ concentrations at this monitoring location were close to 30 μ g/m³, but values dropped to almost 20 μ g/m³ in 2018 and 2019. The reason for this large decrease is not clear and, therefore, to ensure that this assessment uses a conservative background, the modelling will be based on the Defra mapped background concentrations.

Defra mapped background NO₂, PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations which correspond to the location of each modelled receptor for 2019 and 2024 are presented in Table 11 and Table 12. For those grid squares where all primary A roads are included in the model, these have been taken out of the background to avoid double counting (Ref 31). The data shows that the mapped background concentrations are below the relevant annual mean air quality objectives for all pollutants within the study area.

Table 11: Defra Mapped Background Pollutant Concentrations (µg/m³) in 2019

Percenter	Grid Square (V. V)	Annual Mean Concentrations (µg/m³)					
Receptor	Ghu Square (A, T) –	ΝΟχ	NO ₂	PM 10	PM _{2.5}		
R10, R11 & CA25a (verification)	525500, 185500	36.2	23.4	17.3	11.8		
R1 to R9, R12 to R15 & P1 to P5	525500, 184500	39.8	25.2	16.9	11.6		
CD1 & CA17 (Verification)	526500, 184500	44.0	27.2	18.0	12.1		

Table 12: Defra Mapped Background Pollutant Concentrations (µg/m³) in 2024

Receptor	Crid Saucro (X, X)	Annual Mean Concentrations (µg/m³)						
	Gha Square (X, Y) —	NOx	NO ₂	PM ₁₀	PM _{2.5}			
R10, R11 & CA25a (verification)	525500, 185500	28.5	19.3	16.4	11.0			
R1 to R9, R12 to R15 & P1 to P5	525500, 184500	31.2	20.8	16.0	10.8			
CD1 & CA17 (Verification)	526500, 184500	35.0	22.7	17.0	11.3			

Results

Construction Phase

Predicted Effects during Demolition and Construction

An Air Quality Dust Risk Assessment has been undertaken based on currently available information concerning construction phase activities, in accordance with GLA supplementary planning guidance (Ref 23). There are no relevant ecological receptors (nationally designated sites) within 50m of the site boundary, 50m of the route used by construction traffic or within 500m of the site entrance. Therefore, ecological receptors have been scoped out of the dust risk assessment.

It is estimated that the number of high-sensitivity receptors (i.e. residential properties, hospitals, schools and residential care homes) will be in the range of 100-250 within 350m of the site boundary, therefore the dust risk assessment will proceed focussing on human receptors.

The sensitivity of the receptors identified within the vicinity of the site has been assessed as shown in Table 13 as per GLA's Control of Dust and Emissions SPG (Ref 23).

Area Affected	Sensitivity	Justification
Dust Soiling	High	There are between 10 to 100 high sensitivity receptors, i.e. residential properties, within 20m of the site boundary. So, in accordance with the GLAs assessment criteria the area is high sensitivity in terms of dust soiling/nuisance.
Human Health	Low	There are between 10 to 100 high sensitivity receptors, i.e. residential properties, within 20m of the site boundary, however, annual mean PM_{10} concentrations are below 24 μ g/m ³ . So, in accordance with the GLAs assessment criteria the area is low sensitivity in terms of health impacts.

Table 13: Sensitivity of Receptors

Demolition

The development of the application site will require the demolition of the existing building. Total building volume to be demolished is over 50,000 m³ with the concrete comprising a large quantity of the material to be demolished. Demolition activities will also be occurring over 20m above ground level. The potential dust emission magnitude for demolition activities is therefore considered to be **large** The Proposed Development is, therefore, defined as high risk for dust soiling and low risk in term of human health.

Earthworks

The Proposed Development site area is under 2,500m² and given the limited size of the site is anticipated that there will be less than 5 heavy earth moving vehicles active at any one time. The potential dust emissions magnitude associated with earthworks is estimated to be **small**. The Proposed Development is, therefore, defined as low risk for dust soiling and negligible risk in term of human health.

Construction

The building volume of the Proposed Development is between 25,000m³ and 100,000m³, so would be classified as medium risk due to construction volume, however, the construction method included piling works which results in the magnitude of construction emissions being classed as **large**. The Proposed Development is, therefore, defined as high risk for dust soiling and low risk in term of human health.

Trackout

The number of construction-related heavy-duty vehicle (HDV) movements generated by the Proposed Development has the potential to exceed 50 movements per day at its peak. Considering the size of

AECOM

the site, the potential dust emissions class for trackout is conservatively assumed to be **large**. The Proposed Development is, therefore, defined as high risk for dust soiling and low risk in term of human health.

The dust risk assessment discussed above is summarised in Table 14 and Table 15.

Table 14: Summary of Potential Dust Emission Magnitudes for Construction Phase Activities

Activity	Risk Magnitude	Justification
Demolition	Large	Total building volume to be demolished is over 50,000 m ³ with the concrete comprising a large quantity of the material to be demolished. Demolition activities will also be occurring over 20m above ground level.
Earthworks	Small	Earthworks site area is <2,500m ² with limited heavy earth moving vehicles present on site, conservatively estimated to be small risk magnitude.
Construction	Large	The construction volume is approximately 30,000 m ³ which would put construction at a risk magnitude of medium however the construction method includes piling works lifting the risk magnitude to large.
Trackout	Large	The peak number of construction-related heavy-duty vehicle (HDV) movements generated by the Proposed Development may exceed 50 so the risk magnitude is considered too be large.

Table 15: Summary Dust Risk Table

Potential Impact	Risk of Dust Impacts							
	Demolition	Earthworks	Construction	Track out				
Dust Soiling	High Risk	Low Risk	High Risk	High Risk				
Human Health	Low Risk	Negligible Risk	Low Risk	Low Risk				

Overall, the Dust Risk Assessment conservatively identifies the Site as having a 'high risk' of causing impacts during demolition and construction activities on the site and mitigation measures consistent with a high-risk site should therefore be implemented. Proposed mitigation measures are, therefore presented in Table 23.

Operational Phase

The following Sections present the results of the air quality assessments at selected receptors, providing the predicted levels Without and With the Proposed Development.

Predicted pollutant concentration, presented in Table 16, are below their respected AQS objectives in the base year, 2019, at all modelled receptor locations. The highest concentration of NO₂, 29.9 μ g/m³, is predicted at receptor R4; the highest PM₁₀ concentration, 17.9 μ g/m³, occurs at receptors R10 and R11; and the highest PM_{2.5} concentration, 12.1 μ g/m³, occurs at receptors R4, R10 and R11. Predicted NO₂ concentrations at all modelled receptors are well below 60 μ g/m³ and, as such, it is unlikely that the hourly mean AQS objective for NO₂ will be exceeded at any receptors.

Receptor	Locations	NO₂ (μg/m³)	ΡΜ 10 (μg/m ³)	PM _{2.5} (μg/m³)
R1	88 Compayne Gardens	26.3	17.1	11.7
R2	153 West End Lane	29.5	17.7	12.0
R3	76D West End Lane	28.0	17.5	11.9
R4	88 West End Lane	29.9	17.8	12.1
R5	167 West End Lane	28.0	17.4	11.9
R6	124 West End Lane	29.3	17.7	12.0
R7	209 West End Lane	27.9	17.4	11.8
R8	176 West End Lane	27.5	17.4	11.8
R9	172 West End Lane	28.8	17.6	12.0
R10	267 West End Lane	26.6	17.9	12.1
R11	216A West End Lane	26.9	17.9	12.1
R12	43 Blackburn Road	25.7	17.0	11.6
R13	43 Blackburn Road	25.8	17.0	11.6
R14	43 Blackburn Road	25.9	17.1	11.6
R15	43 Blackburn Road	25.8	17.0	11.6

Table 16: Annual Mean Air Quality Results Baseline Results, 2019

Table 17 provides the predicted annual mean concentrations for the future opening year of 2024 Without and With the Proposed Development. The results are presented for the lowest floor with relevant exposure.

Annual mean NO₂ concentrations are predicted to be below the AQS objective both Without and With the Proposed Development. The highest NO₂ concentration is predicted to be 23.3 μ g/m³ at R4 (88 West End Lane). The change in annual mean NO₂ concentrations as a result of the Proposed Development is predicted to be less than 0.1 μ g/m³ and, as such, the change is considered negligible at all receptors. Predicted NO₂ concentrations at all modelled receptors are well below 60 μ g/m³ and, as such, it is unlikely that the hourly mean AQS objective for NO₂ will be exceeded at any receptors.

Annual mean PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations were predicted to be below the relevant AQS objective values in 2024 both Without and With the Proposed Development at all modelled receptors. As with NO₂, the changes in annual mean PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations as a result of the Proposed Development are less than 0.1 µg/m³ and, as such, are considered to be negligible. Predicted annual mean PM_{10} concentrations are predicted to be significantly below 32 µg/m³ and, as such, the daily PM_{10} AQS objective of 50 µg/m³, not be to be exceeded more than 35 times per year, is likely to be achieved at all modelled receptor locations.

The total modelled annual NO₂ concentrations and change as a result of the Proposed Development have been illustrated graphically in Figure 5 and Figure 6 in Appendix A.

Table 17: Annual Mean Concentrations With and Without the Proposed Development in 2024

Pacantor			NO ₂	. (μg/m³)			PM 1	₀ (µg/m³)			PM2.5	s (μg/m³)	
ID	Locations	Without	With	Change	Effect Descriptor	Without	With	Chang e	Effect Descriptor	Without	With	Change	Effect Descriptor
R1	88 Compayne Gardens	21.3	21.3	<0.1	Negligible	16.2	16.2	<0.1	Negligible	10.9	10.9	<0.1	Negligible
R2	153 West End Lane	23.0	23.0	<0.1	Negligible	16.7	16.7	<0.1	Negligible	11.2	11.2	<0.1	Negligible
R3	76D West End Lane	22.3	22.3	<0.1	Negligible	16.5	16.5	<0.1	Negligible	11.1	11.1	<0.1	Negligible
R4	88 West End Lane	23.3	23.3	<0.1	Negligible	16.8	16.8	<0.1	Negligible	11.3	11.3	<0.1	Negligible
R5	167 West End Lane	22.2	22.2	<0.1	Negligible	16.5	16.5	<0.1	Negligible	11.1	11.1	<0.1	Negligible
R6	124 West End Lane	22.9	22.9	<0.1	Negligible	16.7	16.7	<0.1	Negligible	11.2	11.2	<0.1	Negligible
R7	209 West End Lane	22.2	22.2	<0.1	Negligible	16.4	16.4	<0.1	Negligible	11.1	11.1	<0.1	Negligible
R8	176 West End Lane	22.0	22.0	<0.1	Negligible	16.4	16.4	<0.1	Negligible	11.0	11.0	<0.1	Negligible
R9	172 West End Lane	22.7	22.7	<0.1	Negligible	16.6	16.6	<0.1	Negligible	11.2	11.2	<0.1	Negligible
R10	267 West End Lane	21.0	21.0	<0.1	Negligible	16.9	16.9	<0.1	Negligible	11.3	11.3	<0.1	Negligible
R11	216A West End Lane	21.1	21.1	<0.1	Negligible	17.0	17.0	<0.1	Negligible	11.3	11.3	<0.1	Negligible
R12	43 Blackburn Road	21.0	21.0	<0.1	Negligible	16.1	16.1	<0.1	Negligible	10.9	10.9	<0.1	Negligible
R13	43 Blackburn Road	21.1	21.1	<0.1	Negligible	16.1	16.1	<0.1	Negligible	10.9	10.9	<0.1	Negligible
R14	43 Blackburn Road	21.1	21.1	<0.1	Negligible	16.1	16.1	<0.1	Negligible	10.9	10.9	<0.1	Negligible
R15	43 Blackburn Road	21.0	21.0	<0.1	Negligible	16.1	16.1	<0.1	Negligible	10.9	10.9	<0.1	Negligible

Table 18 presents the predicted pollutant concentrations at the facades of the Proposed Development in the opening year 2024. Annual mean NO₂ concentrations are predicted to be below the AQS objective at all modelled receptors on the Proposed Development site. The highest NO₂ concentration is predicted to be 21.3 μ g/m³ at P2 and P5. Predicted NO2 concentrations at all modelled receptors are well below 60 μ g/m³ and, as such, it is unlikely that the hourly mean AQS objective for NO₂ will be exceeded at any receptors.

Annual mean PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} concentrations were predicted to be below the relevant AQS objective values at the facades of the Proposed Development in the opening year 2024. Predicted annual mean PM₁₀ concentrations are predicted to be significantly below 32 μ g/m³ and, as such, the daily PM₁₀ AQS objective of 50 μ g/m³, not be to be exceeded more than 35 times per year, is likely to be achieved at all modelled receptor locations.

The modelling predicts that the annual mean AQS objectives for NO_2 , PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$, and short-term AQS objectives for NO_2 and PM_{10} will be achieved at all modelled receptors representative of the Proposed Development. As such the site is considered appropriate for its proposed use.

Receptor	NO₂ (μg/m³)	ΡΜ 10 (μg/m³)	ΡΜ _{2.5} (μg/m³)
P1	21.2	16.1	10.9
P2	21.3	16.2	10.9
P3	21.1	16.1	10.9
P4	21.2	16.1	10.9
P5	21.3	16.2	10.9

Table 18: Annual Mean Concentrations at Proposed Residential Receptors in 2024

Air Quality Neutral Results

Introduction

In order to address the GLA's policy for new developments to be 'air quality neutral', and in-line with the relevant requirements of its Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (Ref 22), emissions for the Proposed Development were estimated, and used to evaluate its performance against site-specific benchmark values from the SPG. The Proposed Development is mixed use with 53 residential dwellings (C3) and 4,802 m³ of floor space associated with office space (B1). commercial building (predominantly Class B1).

The Proposed Development does not contain an energy centre and relies on a combination of closed loop air source heat pump and photovoltaic array in order to meet energy demands. As such, the Proposed Development is considered to be air quality neutral in terms of building emissions as it excludes any combustion sources for the provision of heating or hot water.

Transport Related Emissions

As the Proposed Development is car free, other modes of transport to access site such as taxi use, servicing trips and motorcycle usage have been considered within this transport Section of the Air quality neutral assessment.

Table 19: Calculation of Benchmarked Transport Emissions

Land Use	Quantity	NO _x Transport Emission Benchmark	Total NO _X Transport Emissions Benchmark
Residential (C3)	53	558 g/m²/annum	29.6 kg/yr
Business (B1)	4,802 m ²	11.4 g/m²/annum	54.7 kg/yr
Total NO _x Benchmarked Transport Emissions		84.3 kg/yr	
Land Use	Quantity	PM ₁₀ Transport Emission Benchmark	Total PM ₁₀ Transport Emissions Benchmark
Residential (C3)	53	100 g/m²/annum	5.3 kg/yr
Business (B1)	4,802 m ²	2.05 g/m²/annum	9.8 kg/yr
Total PM ₁₀ Benchmarked	Transport Emissions		15.1 kg/yr

Table 20: Calculation of Total Distance Travelled Per Year by Land-Use Class

Land Use	Quantity	Number of Vehicle Trips per Year	Average distance Travelled per Trip (km/trip)	Average Distance Travelled per Year (km/yr)
Residential (C3)	53	214 trips/dwelling/year	3.7	41,965
Business (B1)	4,802 m ²	2.5 trips/m²/year	7.7	92,439
Total Average Distance	Travelled Per Ye	ear (km/year)		134,404

Table 21: Calculation of Total Transport Emissions

Land Use	Total Average Distance travelled per year (km/yr)	NOx Transport Emission Factor (gNO _x /vehicle-km)	Total NO _X Transport Emissions (kg)
Residential (C3)	41,965	0.3700	15.5
Business (B1)	92,439	0.3700	34.2
Total NO _x Transport I	Emissions		49.7
Land Use	Total Average Distance travelled per year (km/yr)	PM ₁₀ Transport Emission Factor (gPM ₁₀ /vehicle- km)	Total PM₁₀ Transport Emissions (kg)
Residential (C3)	41,965	0.0665	2.8
Business (B1)	92,439	0.0665	6.1
Total PM ₁₀ Transport	Emissions		8.9

As both the NO_x and PM₁₀ transport emissions for the Proposed Development (49.7kg/yr and 8.9kg/yr respectively) are smaller than the calculated benchmark emissions for NO_x and PM₁₀ (84.3kg/yr and 15.1kg/yr, respectively), the Proposed Development is considered to be air quality neutral with regard to transport-related emissions. The results of the air quality neutral assessment are presented in Table 22 below.

Table 22: Comparison Between Total Transport Emissions and Benchmarked Transport Emissions

NOx	
Total Transport Emissions (kg/yr)	49.7
Total Benchmarked Transport Emissions (Assessment Criteria) (kg/yr)	84.3
Difference (kg/yr)	-34.6
PM ₁₀	
Total Transport Emissions (kg/annum)	8.9
Total Benchmarked Transport Emissions (Assessment Criteria) (kg/annum)	15.1
Difference (kg/annum)	-6.2

Given the results presented in Table 22 and as the Proposed Development does not include any combustion sources for the provision of heating or hot water, the Proposed Development is considered to be air quality neutral.

Mitigation Measures

Construction Phase Mitigation Measures

Based on the results of the dust risk assessment, the following mitigation measures are recommended by the GLA's The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition – Supplementary Planning Guidance (Ref 23) for High Risk Sites. It is recognised that not all of the recommended measures maybe be appropriate or feasible for all high-risk sites. It is provided to recommend the desirable mitigation and is intentionally designed not to limit mitigation that is finally selected by the demolition/construction company to avoid issues once the planning is agreed. The dust controls are generally agreed after planning as a condition with the requirement that the demolition/construction company issue a dust management plan (DMP) or Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) prior to works commencing on site.

Table 23: Mitigation Measures

Mitigation Measure	Highly Recommended (H) / Desirable (D)
Site Management	
Develop and implement a stakeholder communications plan that includes community engagement before work commences on site	н
Develop a Dust Management Plan.	Н
Display the name and contact details of person(s) accountable for air quality pollutant emissions and dust issues on the site boundary.	н
Display the head or regional office contact information.	Н
Record and respond to all dust and air quality pollutant emissions complaints.	Н
Make a complaint log available to the local authority when asked.	Н
Carry out regular site inspections to monitor compliance with air quality and dust control procedures, record inspection results, and make an inspection log available to the local authority when asked.	н
Increase the frequency of site inspections by those accountable for dust and air quality pollutant emissions issues when activities with a high potential to produce dust and emissions and dust are being carried out, and during prolonged dry or windy conditions.	н
Record any exceptional incidents that cause dust and air quality pollutant emissions, either on or off the site, and the action taken to resolve the situation is recorded in the log book.	н
Hold regular liaison meetings with other high-risk construction sites within 500m of the site boundary, to ensure plans are co-ordinated and dust and particulate matter emissions are minimised.	Н
Preparing and Maintaining the Site	
Plan site layout: machinery and dust causing activities should be located away from receptors.	н
Erect solid screens or barriers around dust activities or the site boundary that are, at least, as high as any stockpiles on site.	н
Fully enclosure site or specific operations where there is a high potential for dust production and the site is active for an extensive period.	н
Install green walls, screens or other green infrastructure to minimise the impact of dust and pollution.	D
Avoid site runoff of water or mud.	Н
Keep site fencing, hoarding, barriers and scaffolding clean using wet methods.	Н
Remove materials from site as soon as possible.	H
Cover, seed or fence stockpiles to prevent wind whipping.	<u> </u>
Avoid double handling of material wherever reasonably practicable.	Н
Carry out regular dust solling checks of buildings within 100m of site boundary and	н
Provide showers and ensure a change of shoes and clothes are required before going	
off-site to reduce transport of dust.	D
Agree monitoring locations with the Local Authority.	Н
Where possible, commence baseline monitoring at least three months before phase	
begins.	н

Mitigation Measure	Highly Recommended (H) / Desirable (D)
Put in place real-time dust and air quality pollutant monitors across the site and ensure they are checked regularly.	н
Operating Vehicle/Machinery and Sustainable Travel	
Ensure all on-road vehicles comply with the requirements of the London Low Emission Zone.	н
Ensure all non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) comply with the standards set within this guidance.	н
Ensure all vehicles switch off engines when stationary – no idling vehicles.	н
Avoid the use of diesel- or petrol-powered generators and use mains electricity or battery powered equipment where possible.	н
Impose and signpost a maximum-speed-limit of 10mph on surfaced haul routes and work areas (if long haul routes are required these speeds may be increased with suitable additional control measures provided, subject to the approval of the nominated undertaker and with the agreement of the local authority, where appropriate).	н
Produce a Construction Logistics Plan to manage the sustainable delivery of goods and materials.	н
Implement a Travel Plan that supports and encourages sustainable travel (public transport, cycling, walking, and car-sharing).	н
Loading of material into lorries within designated bay.	Н
Plant working on site to have exhausts positioned such that the risk of re-suspension of ground dust is minimised (exhausts should preferably point upwards), where reasonably practicable.	н
Ensure all vehicles carrying loose or potentially dusty material to or from the site are fully sheeted.	н
Use ultra-low sulphur fuels in plant and vehicles.	Н
Operations Only use cutting, grinding or sawing equipment fitted or in conjunction with suitable dust suppression techniques such as water sprays or local extraction, e.g. suitable	н
Ensure an adequate water supply on the site for effective dust/particulate matter	н
Initigation (using recycled water where possible).	Ц
Use enclosed chules, conveyors and covered skips.	п
handling equipment and use fine water sprays on such equipment wherever appropriate.	н
Ensure equipment is readily available on site to clean any dry spillages and clean up spillages as soon as reasonably practicable after the event using wet cleaning methods.	Н
Waste Management	
Reuse and recycle waste to reduce dust from waste materials	Н
Avoid bonfires and burning of waste materials.	Н
Measures Specific to Demolition	
Soft strip inside buildings before demolition (retaining walls and windows in the rest of the building where possible, to provide a screen against dust)	Н
Ensure water suppression is used during demolition operations.	<u>H</u>
Avoid explosive blasting, using appropriate manual or mechanical alternatives.	<u> </u>
bag and remove any biological debris or damp down such material before demolition.	н
Measures Specific to Earthworks	
No specific measures are recommended as the site is Low Risk, however, general good practice measures should be implemented.	-
Measures Specific to Construction	
Avoid scabbling (roughening of concrete surfaces) if possible	Н
Ensure sand and other aggregates are stored in bunded areas and are not allowed to dry out, unless this is required for a particular process, in which case ensure that appropriate additional control measures are in place	н

Mitigation Measure Highly Recommended (H) / Desirable (D) Ensure bulk cement and other fine powder materials are delivered in enclosed tankers and stored in silos with suitable emission control systems to prevent escape of н material and overfilling during delivery. For smaller supplies of fine powder materials ensure bags are sealed after use and D stored appropriately to prevent dust. **Measures Specific to Trackout** Regularly use a water-assisted dust sweeper on the access and local roads, as н necessary, to remove any material tracked out of the site. Avoid dry sweeping of large areas. Н Ensure vehicles entering and leaving sites are securely covered to prevent escape of н materials during transport. Record all inspections of haul routes and any subsequent action in a site log book. н Install hard surfaced haul routes, which are regularly damped down with fixed or н mobile sprinkler systems and regularly cleaned. Inspect haul routes for integrity and instigate necessary repairs to the surface as soon н as reasonably practicable Implement a wheel washing system (with rumble grids to dislodge accumulated dust н and mud prior to leaving the site where reasonably practicable). Ensure there is an adequate area of hard surfaced road between the wheel wash н facility and the site exit, wherever site size and layout permits. Access gates to be located at least 10m from receptors where possible. Η Apply dust suppressants to locations where a large volume of vehicles enter and exit н the construction site

Summary and Conclusions

This air quality assessment has been undertaken in order to assess the potential air quality impacts associated with the redevelopment of the existing building at the Clockwork Factory Apartments, 13 Blackburn Road, West Hampstead, NW6 1RZ ('the Site') within the jurisdiction of the London Borough of Camden (LBC).

LBC have declared the entire Borough an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) due to exceedances of the Air Quality Strategy (AQS) objective for annual mean NO₂ and daily mean objective for PM₁₀. This assessment will, therefore, focuses on the pollutants of primary concern within the LBC administrative area which are NO₂, PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5}.

The results of the construction phase assessment indicate that, in the absence of mitigation, construction phase impacts associated with the Proposed Development, such as removal / demolition of existing structures, earthworks, construction and track-out, can be described as low to high risk with regard to dust soiling, and negligible to low risk in terms of human health impacts. There are a range of mitigation measures which can be followed to reduce the nuisance and human-health impacts of the dust and PM_{10} which, if effectively implemented, can reduce impacts to an insignificant level. Appropriate mitigation measures are set out in Table 23 and should be implemented through a Dust Management Plan or CEMP.

The operational impact of the Proposed Development on local air quality was assessed at 15 receptor locations representing existing sensitive receptors. Predicted NO₂ and PM₁₀ concentrations are predicted to be below the annual mean air quality objective of 40 μ g/m³ at all the receptors included within the dispersion modelling for both the Without and With Development operational traffic scenarios. Likewise, annual mean PM_{2.5} concentrations are predicted to be below the EU limit value of 25 μ g/m³ at all modelled receptors for both the Without and With Development operational traffic scenarios. The impact of the Proposed Development at all existing receptor locations is negligible, in accordance with the IAQM/EPUK significance criteria. Overall, the Proposed Development operational traffic impacts on local air quality are considered to be not significant.

Five additional receptors were modelled to represent the facades of the Proposed Development. NO₂, PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} concentrations are predicted to be well below the annual mean AQS objective and EU limit value at all five modelled receptors. As such the Site is considered to be appropriate, in terms of air quality, for the proposed Development.

An air quality neutral assessment has been undertaken which has demonstrated that anticipated transport related emissions are smaller than the calculated benchmark traffic emissions set out in the GLA's Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (Ref 22). The Proposed Development does not contain an energy centre and relies on a combination of closed loop air source heat pump and photovoltaic array in order to meet energy demands. As such the Proposed Development is considered to be air quality neutral in respect of both building and transport-related emissions.

References

- Ref 1 European Union (2001). Clean Air for Europe (CAFE) Programme: Towards a Thematic Strategy for Air Quality. Available at: https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/links/research-projects/clean-air-for-europe-programme-cafe
- Ref 2 Council of the European Union (2008). Directive 2008/50/EC on Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe. Available at: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32008L0050</u>
- Ref 3 Council of European Communities (1999). First Daughter Directive on Limit Values for Sulphur Dioxide, Nitrogen Dioxide and Oxides of Nitrogen, Particulate Matter and Lead in Ambient Air, 1999/30/EC. Available at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31999L0030</u>
- Ref 4 Council of European Communities (2000). Second Daughter Directive on Limit Values for Benzene and Carbon Monoxide in Ambient Air, 2000/69/EC. Available at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32000L0069</u>
- Ref 5 Council of European Communities (2002). Third Daughter Directive on Ozone in Ambient Air, 2002/3/EC. Available at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32002L0003</u>
- Ref 6 Council of the European Union (1997). Directive 97/101/EC: Council Decision of 27 January 1997 establishing a reciprocal exchange of information and data from networks and individual stations measuring ambient air pollution within the Member States. Available at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A31997D0101</u>
- Ref 7 H.M. Government (2016). Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/1001/contents/made</u>
- Ref 8 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2000). The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/resource/doc/1052/0051687.pdf</u>
- Ref 9 H.M. Government (1995). The Environment Act. Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/contents</u>
- Ref 10 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2007). The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Volume 1 available at: <u>https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090810105142/http://www.defra.gov.uk/environ</u> <u>ment/airquality/strategy/pdf/air-qualitystrategy-vol1.pdf</u>. Volume 2 available at: <u>https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090810105136/http://www.defra.gov.uk/environ</u> <u>ment/airquality/strategy/pdf/air-qualitystrategy-vol2.pdf</u>.
- Ref 11 The Air Quality (England) Regulations (2000). Available at: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/928/contents/made</u>
- Ref 12 The Air Quality (England) Regulations (2015). Available at: <u>https://consult.defra.gov.uk/communications/laqm-review-next-</u> <u>steps/supporting_documents/The%20Air%20Quality%20England%20Regulations%202015aa</u> <u>.pdf</u>
- Ref 13 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2019) UK Clean Air Strategy 2019. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data /file/770715/clean-air-strategy-2019.pdf</u>
- Ref 14 Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) (2019). The National Planning Policy Framework. DCLG. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data</u> <u>/file/6077/2116950.pdf</u>
- Ref 15 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2014). Planning Practice Guidance. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance</u>

Ref 16 H. M. Government, (2018); A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment.

- Ref 17 The Mayor of London. (2016). The London Plan. The Spatial Development Strategy for London Consolidated with Alterations since 2011.
- Ref 18 Greater London Authority, (2019). Draft London Plan Consolidated Suggested Changes Version (Intend to Publish December 2019)
- Ref 19 Mayor of London (2019). What is the new London Plan? Available at: <u>https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/new-london-plan/what-new-london-plan</u>
- Ref 20 Greater London Authority (2018). London Environment Strategy. Available at: <u>https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_environment_strategy_0.pdf</u>
- Ref 21 Greater London Authority (2010) The Mayor's Air Quality Strategy. Available at: https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Air_Quality_Strategy_v3.pdf
- Ref 22 Greater London Authority, (2014); Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Guidance. Available at: <u>https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Sustainable%20De</u> <u>sign%20%26%20Construction%20SPG.pdf</u>
- Ref 23 Greater London Authority (2014); The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition Supplementary Planning Guidance. Available at: <u>https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Dust%20and%20E_missions%20SPG%208%20July%202014.pdf</u>
- Ref 24 London Borough of Camden (2017), Camden Local Plan.
- Ref 25 London Borough of Camden (2019), Our Camden Plan
- Ref 26 London Borough of Camden (2019), Clean Air Action Plan 2019-2021.
- Ref 27 London Borough of Camden (2015), Fortune Green & West Hampstead Neighbourhood Plan
- Ref 28 London Borough of Camden (2019), Camden Planning Guidance (CPG) Air Quality
- Ref 29 London Borough of Camden (2019), Camden Transport Strategy 2019-2041
- Ref 30 London Borough of Camden (2019), Camden's Minimum Requirements
- Ref 31 Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh Assembly Government, and Department of the Environment for Northern Ireland. Local Air Quality Management, 2018, Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(16)
- Ref 32 Environmental Protection UK (EPUK) and Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM), (2017), Land-use planning & development control: Planning for Air Quality
- Ref 33 Greater London Authority, (2016). London Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (LAEI) 2013 Air Quality Focus Areas – December 2016 Update. Available at: <u>https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/laei-2013-london-focus-areas</u>
- Ref 34 Air Quality Consultants, (2014); Air Quality Neutral Planning Support Update: GLA 80371.
- Ref 35 London Borough of Camden, (2019); Annual Status Report 2018
- Ref 36 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2015). Background Pollutant Concentration Maps. Available at: <u>http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/</u>
- Ref 37 Committee On The Medical Effects Of Air Pollutants Statement On The Evidence For The Effects Of Nitrogen Dioxide On Health. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/411756/COME AP_The_evidence_for_the_effects_of_nitrogen_dioxide.pdf</u>
- Ref 38 Department for Transport (2018), Road traffic statistics. Available at: <u>https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/#6/55.254/-6.053/basemap-regions-countpoints</u>
- Ref 39 London Datastore, London Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (LAEI) 2013. Available at: https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/london-atmospheric-emissions-inventory-2013
- Ref 40 Cambridge Environmental Research Consultants (CERC) (2013), ADMS-Roads Validation Papers, Cambridge Environmental Research Consultants.

- Ref 41 Greater London Authority (GLA) (2016), The London Plan (Consolidations with alterations since 2011): The Spatial Development Strategy for London, Mayor of London.
- Ref 42 Greater London Authority (GLA) (2019). London Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance 2016 LLAQM.TG(16).
- Ref 43 Laxen and Marner (2003) Analysis of the Relationship Between 1-Hour and Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide at UK Roadside and Kerbside Monitoring Sites.
- Ref 44 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) (2019), 2017-based background maps for NOx, NO₂, PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5}, 2016
- Ref 45 Expert panel of air quality standards (2006) <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/air-quality-expert-group</u>.
- Ref 46 AEAT (2008) https://www.airqualityengland.co.uk/assets/documents/Luton/Progress_Report_2008.pdf
- Ref 47 Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) (2014), Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction (updated 2016).
- Ref 48 Defra (2019), Defra LAQM Tools Emission Factors Toolkit, Version 9.0, UK-AIR. Available at: https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html
- Ref 49 Council of European Communities (1997), Directive on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to measures against the emission of gaseous and particulate pollutants from internal combustion engines to be installed in non-road mobile machinery, 97/68/EC.
- Ref 50 EU 2016/1628 (2016), Regulation on requirements relating to gaseous and particulate pollutant emission limits and type-approval for internal combustion engines for non-road mobile machinery, amending Regulations (EU) No 1024/2012 and (EU) No 167/2013, and amending and repealing Directive 97/68/EC.

Appendix A - Figures

Figure 1: Wind Rose from London City Meteorological Station, 2019



Figure 2: Modelled Road and Receptors Locations



Figure 3: Model Verification - Modelled Roads and Monitoring Locations



Figure 4: LBC Monitoring Locations



Figure 5: Change in NO₂ Concentrations Between Without and With Scenarios



Figure 6: NO₂ Concentrations With Proposed Development at Receptor Locations



AECOM Limited Midpoint, Alencon Link Basingstoke Hampshire RG21 7PP United Kingdom

T: +44(0)1256 310200 aecom.com